1951

Mary M. Stroud v. Industrial Commission of Utah et al : Brief of Petitioner

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

The petitioner is the widow of Thomas William Stroud, who was killed when his gun accidentally discharged. Mr. Stroud was employed by Salt Lake City Corporation as a police officer. The petitioner applied for compensation. After a contested hearing compensation was denied and the petitioner brings this review.

SPECIFICATION OF ERROR

Petitioner contends that the Industrial Commission erred:

1. In concluding that the accident which caused Mr. Stroud's death did not arise out of his employment.
2. In concluding that the accident did not occur in the course of the employment.

THE FACTS

The facts brought out at the contested hearing are not in dispute. It is admitted that Thomas Stroud was employed by Salt Lake City as a policeman (R. 6 and 7); that Salt Lake City was subject to the Workmen's Compensation Act (R. 6); that Thomas Stroud was killed by the discharge of his gun on January 5, 1951, at about 6:00 p.m. (R. 6, 7, 11). It was agreed that the only issue for determination was whether or not Stroud was killed by accident which (a) arose out of his employment, or (b) occurred in the course of his employment. (R. 7).

Stroud was subject to call 24 hours per day. He had an assigned shift which required him to work specific hours of each day and gave him one day off per week (R. 8, 10, 13, 6). The day of the accident was his usual day off (R. 13, 14, 33). He was a sergeant with the duty of supervising the work of several policemen (R. 14, 16, 17). On the previous day he had arranged with two officers to come to the police station at 6:00

p.m. the following day, at which time and place he was to check out for them a special police car. (R. 14, 15, 17, 18). The car in question was one without any equipment to identify it as a police car, and it had to be specially checked out (R. 36). Both of these officers testified that on Thursday Stroud requested them to meet him at the station at 6:00 p.m., Friday, so that he could get the car for them (R. 15, 17, 18, 28). Stroud also mentioned to Officer Brinton that he was going to arrange for the car (R. 36). There is no evidence to the contrary. On Friday, Officer Stroud arrived at the station just before 6:00 p.m. He was seen in street clothes at his desk a short time before the accident, which happened at about 6:00 p.m. (R. 29, 30).

The two officers who were to meet Officer Stroud at the station at 6:00 p.m. were sent to Fort Douglas on special business and, therefore, did not arrive until after the accident (R. 15, 16, 28). Officer Stroud did not in fact check the car out for them (R. 19, 36). Officer Stroud was killed when his gun fell while he was lifting some cases of Coca-Cola from a patrol car into his own private car. He intended to take the Coca-Cola to a police benefit party (R. 11, 12, 13). The gun with which he was killed was not the regular service revolver issued by Salt Lake City, but was an automatic pistol owned by him (R. 12, 14, 27). It was, however, the pistol which he customarily carried (R. 10, 31).

The evidence was undisputed that Salt Lake City police officers customarily carry a gun with them at all times, whether they are on or off duty (R. 9, 10, 20, 23,

25, 28). Such has been the custom for at least twenty years (R. 26). One of the witnesses testified that as a part of the indoctrination training for new policemen, he was told by the instructors that he was to carry his gun at all times (R. 22). Chief Crowther testified that he was told when he first became connected with the police department that he was expected to carry a gun (R. 25). There is no rule in the police manual requiring officers to carry guns.

Still the only conclusion which could possibly be drawn from the evidence is that it was a uniform custom of police officers working for Salt Lake City to carry guns while off duty (R. 9, 10, 20, 23, 25, 28).

ARGUMENT

1. THE WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION ACT SHOULD BE LIBERALLY CONSTRUED IN FAVOR OF COMPENSATION.

In compensation cases the Utah Supreme Court has uniformly held that all doubtful cases should be resolved in favor of awarding compensation. See *M. & K. Corporation v. Industrial Commission*, 112 Utah 488, 189 P. 2nd 132, *Chandler v. Industrial Commission*, 55 Utah 213, 184 P. 1020.

In the *M. & K. Corporation* case, the court said:

“We have also repeatedly held that this statute should be liberally construed and if there is any doubt respecting the right to compensation it should be resolved in favor of a recovery.”
(Citing many cases.)

2. UNDER UTAH STATUTES COMPENSATION SHOULD BE AWARDED IF EITHER (A) THE ACCIDENT ARISES OUT OF THE EMPLOYMENT, OR (B) IN THE COURSE OF THE EMPLOYMENT.

The Utah Supreme Court has held many times that because of a 1919 amendment to what is now Section 42-1-43, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, it is only necessary to show either one of two things: (a) That the accident arose out of the employment, or (b) That it occurred in the course of his employment. Prior to 1919 the Section used the word "and", but in 1919 the Legislature substituted the word "or" and since that date this court has consistently held that only one or the other need be shown. This is pointed out in numerous cases, one of the more recent being *M. & K. Corporation*, supra, 112 Utah 488, in which the court says:

"Since the 1919 amendment to that section (42-1-43) when the word 'or' which we have italicized above was substituted for the word 'and' it is not necessary for the accident to arise both out of and occur in the course of his employment, it is sufficient if the accident only arises in the course of his employment. Workmen's Compensation statutes both in this country and throughout the British Empire usually require, as did ours before the amendment, that the accident arise both out of and in the course of the employment, and this must be kept in mind in considering the decisions of other jurisdictions. We have often pointed out this distinction and indicated in many cases that the recovery was allowed on that account and that it probably would not have been allowed without the amendment."

There are numerous Utah cases to the same effect. See *Tavey v. Industrial Commission*, 106 Utah 489, 150 P. 2nd 379; *Park Utah Consolidated Mines Co. v. Industrial Commission*, 103 Utah 64, 133 P. 2nd 314; *Cudahy Packing Co. v. Industrial Commission*, 60 Utah 161, 207 P. 148, and other cases cited therein.

3. THE ACCIDENT INVOLVED HERE AROSE OUT OF THE EMPLOYMENT.

We believe that a reading of the decision of the Industrial Commission will demonstrate that the Industrial Commission concerned itself primarily, if not exclusively, with the question of whether or not Stroud was in the course of his employment when killed. It concluded that he was not, because it was his day off, and because the loading of soda water into his own car was not a part of his employer's business. For the purpose of our argument under this point, let it be conceded that Stroud was not in the course of his employment when killed. The Utah Statutes, nevertheless, under the cases cited in Point 2 hereof, allow recovery if the accident which resulted in Stroud's death "*arose out of his employment.*"

We submit that except for the fact that Stroud carried a gun, he would never have been killed. The cases cited hereinafter will demonstrate that it is not necessary for the employer to specifically require the employee to carry a gun. All that is required is that the carrying of a gun be reasonably related or incident to the employment. If it is, and death results from an acci-

dent with the gun, all of the cases hold that the accident “arises out of the employment.”

There are literally hundreds of cases defining the term “arising out of the employment”. This court has considered the phrase on numerous occasions. We will not lengthen this brief with detailed definitions of that term. The cases are uniform to the effect that the words “arising out of” are construed to refer to the *origin* or *cause* of the injury, and involve the idea that the accident is in some sense due to or caused by the employment, and the words “in the course of” refer to the time, place and circumstances under which it occurred. See *Utah Apex Mining Company v. Industrial Commission*, 67 Utah 537, 248 P. 493; *M. & K. Corporation v. Industrial Commission*, *supra*.

If the employment subjects the employee to risks which are different from or greater than those to which the public is subjected, and those dangers result in an accidental injury, then the accident arises out of the employment. For example, in the *Cudahy Packing Co. v. Industrial Commission* case, 60 Utah 161, 207 P. 148, the court held that an employee injured while going to work was injured by accident arising out of the employment, because in going to work he was required to go down a particular lane and cross a series of railroad tracks to reach his employer’s place of business. There was no other way that the employee could get to his work. By taking the only lane available to him, he was subjected to the dangers incident to crossing railroad tracks. This court held that because his employment

subjected him to that danger, his death, caused by collision with a train, arose out of his employment, even though he had not yet arrived at work, and even though it was before his working hours started.

In *Park Utah Consolidated Mines Co. v. Industrial Commission*, 103 Utah 64, 133 P. 2nd 314, the court permitted an employee who had left work and was on his way home to recover workmen's compensation because he was exposed to certain dangers in crossing the public highway to get to a parking lot. The court cited the *Cudahy Packing Company* case and emphasized the fact that it was his employment which subjected him to the particular risk. The court distinguished cases from other jurisdictions which require, contrary to the Utah law, that the accident also occur in the course of the employment. The court said that the fact that the danger was one to which the employee was subjected by reason of his employment, demonstrated that the accident arising out of said danger arose out of the employment.

Officer Stroud was exposed to the dangers of a gun accident by his employment. There certainly can be no doubt under the evidence that he carried the gun because of his employment as a police officer. (R. 9, 10, 20, 23, 25, 28). In fact, the carrying of the gun without a permit would have been illegal except for the fact that he was employed as a policeman. See Section 103-21-4, Utah Code Annotated, 1943. All of the officers carried guns on their days off and such practice was not only known by the police department, but was encouraged by it. (R.

9, 10, 20, 23, 25, 28) Under the cases which are cited hereafter, it is clear that this is sufficient to show that the accident arose out of his employment.

There have been numerous cases in which employees have been injured in gun accidents. The cases recognize that persons who handle firearms are subjected to the risk of being accidentally shot. If the possession of firearms is reasonably related to or incident to the employment, then any accident resulting from use or possession of said firearms is held to arise out of the employment. If, however, the presence of a gun has no relationship whatever to the employment, then even though the accident occurs while the employee is actually performing his master's services, (in course of employment) the accident does not "*arise out of the employment.*"

(a) *Cases in Which Courts Have Held that Gun Accidents Arise Out of the Employment.*

The only Utah case dealing directly with this point is *Beaver City v. Industrial Commission*, 67 Utah 8, 245 P. 378. Here the Beaver City Marshall, who was on call 24 hours per day dropped his gun in the mud while chasing cattle out of a city park. That evening he was cleaning the gun at his home and was hurt when it accidentally discharged. There was no evidence as to whose gun it was. The court said, however, that this made no difference. The court did not attempt to distinguish between "arising out of" or "in the course of" the employment, but said that because he was cleaning his gun he was in the course of his employment and was entitled to compensation. Because the Utah law permits recovery upon the showing of either one, the court

did not go further and consider whether or not the accident also arose out of the employment.

In the case of *Mayor v. Ward*, 114 S.W. 804, a policeman was subject to call 24 hours per day, but he worked a regular shift which ended at midnight. On the day in question he stopped work at midnight and thereafter left the station for his home. Several blocks from the police station he was struck by a car. He was wearing a gun at the time. He fell on his left side, and because of the fact that he was wearing the gun on that side, he received internal injuries. The court thought it clear that but for the gun he would not have received such injuries. Said the court:

“Moreover, we think the fair inference is that Ward’s injury to his left side, which appears to have done serious internal damage, was the direct result of his having his pistol in its scabbard in the position shown; that the violent fall of this heavy man on this object attached to his side was the cause of the injury. It thus appears that his carrying of this weapon, which his duty required, was the direct cause of his injury; that the instrumentality which proximately produced the injury was one which he was required to use to perform his duty. *If this gun had been exploded by his fall and wounded him fatally, could it be contended that his injury did not arise out of his employment?*”

In *Goins v. Shreveport Yellow Cabs*, (La.) 200 So. 481, the petitioner was a cab driver. Because of occasional robberies and current strike troubles, the employer supplied pistols to his employees. The court noted:

“The drivers were not compelled to carry revolvers, but the evidence leaves us satisfied

that they were encouraged to have these weapons for defense of themselves as well as the property of the defendant company.”

The employee was waiting in his cab for a call from passengers and while so waiting he and another employee began comparing guns. One of them accidentally discharged and injured the petitioner. The court held that the shooting arose out of the employment and analyzed numerous shooting cases. The court said:

“Ordinarily, plaintiff’s employment as a cab driver might not expose him to the danger of accidental shooting any more than had he not been so employed, but where the employer furnishes his employee with a revolver for the two-fold purpose of protecting him and the property of the employer from robberies, kidnappers and possible trouble from striking drivers, he is exposed to the danger of accidental shooting. Necessarily, the employee would be called upon to handle the pistol other than when actual danger was present. As the court said in the *Brown* case, we would be indulging in hair-splitting distinctions which would be without foundation in law or fact, should we hold under the facts of this case that the injury did not arise out of and in the course of plaintiff’s employment.”

In *Holland v. Continental Casualty Co.*, (La.) 155 So. 63, petitioner was a traveling salesman. He carried valuables and to protect them he carried a gun. The gun was his own gun. The employer knew that the petitioner customarily carried the gun. While stopped at a filling station the plaintiff picked up the gun and while in the act of removing a shell from it, accidentally shot himself in the foot. The employer contended that this did not arise out of the employment. The court held that it did and said:

“It cannot well be argued that in view of the character of the plaintiff’s duty, that of carrying in his car merchandise of considerable value and cash and checks collected from customers, he was not necessarily exposed to greater risks and damages from robbers and highwaymen, who, of late years ply their trade bodily than he would be had he not been so employed. This, as we understand the law is the true test.”

The court went on to note that because the carrying of the gun was not unreasonable and that he was injured by the gun “carried to prevent being robbed and perhaps injured, it seems clear to us that the case is compensable.”

Southern Cotton Oil Co. v. Bruce, (Ala.) 32 So. 2nd 666. The deceased was employed as a night watchman. He usually carried a .45 caliber gun of his own, but the company had furnished a .32 caliber pistol which was kept on the premises for use by him or by other employees for protecting the employer’s property. The watchman was friendly with a very young son of his supervisor. He took the boy to his office to get a holster from the .32 caliber gun so that the boy could use it for his toy gun. He took the .32 caliber gun from the holster and placed the boy’s toy gun in it. The boy picked up the .32 caliber gun and shot and killed the watchman. The court said that the question in shooting cases of this type is whether the accident “arose out of the employment.” After reviewing several cases the court said:

“In the instant case the employee’s death was caused by the accidental discharge of a pistol which he used with the knowledge and consent of the company officers in connection with the performance of his duties. When guns are handled, shooting accidents may be ex-

pected. Such an accident is unquestionably a hazard peculiar to the employment of a watchman or other person whose duties require the use of firearms. The duties of his employment subjected him to this hazard to which he would not have been exposed apart from his employment. It is such a hazard as can be said to be a natural consequence of the employment. A firearm is a dangerous instrumentality * * * It was by reason of his employment that the deceased was exposed to the danger incident to the handling and carrying of pistols, and the hazard of being shot by the accidental discharge of the pistols was unquestionably a natural incident to his work."

In *Comstock v. Bivens*, (Col.) 78 Col. 107, 239 P. 869, a mailman carrying mail for a company having a contract on a star route was injured in a gun accident. He carried the gun because of the fact that he had a route in sparsely populated areas. The court said that while he was not required by his employment to carry it, it was customary for mailmen in sparsely populated areas to carry a gun. He had gone home for the night and was killed in front of his home while removing the gun from the truck. The court held that the accident arose out of his employment.

McDaniel v. City of Benson, 167 Minn. 407, 209 N.W. 26. There the sole police officer of a city went to his home to get a revolver. He placed the same in a shoulder holster. He then stooped over for some purpose and the gun discharged when it fell to the floor. He died from the resulting injuries. The court held that the accident arose out of his employment.

Security State Bank of Sterling v. Propst, 99 Col. 67, 59 P. 2nd 798. The deceased was assistant cashier

of a bank. With the knowledge of the bank, he carried a gun. He often brought deposits to the bank from his home. The morning of the accident he was carrying a bank deposit but stopped to mail a letter. (Not in any way connected with the bank.) The gun was discharged while he was stopped and he died of the injuries thus sustained. The employer claimed that he was neither in the course of his employment, nor killed by accident arising out of the employment. The court held that the mailing of the letter was not a departure and then expressly held that since he was carrying a gun with the knowledge of his employer, even though no express permission or instruction had been given him, the carrying of the gun was connected with his employment and death from it arose out of his employment.

Gallaher v. U. S. Fidelity & Guaranty Co., (Texas) 77 S.W. 2d 312. An employee attended two oil wells and lived on the premises of his employer near one of them. He kept a gun for his own personal use and also to protect the employer's property. He was on call 24 hours per day. At the time of the accident the gun was in his car at the place where he lived. He was cleaning a tank for his employer. The needed rags were in his car. While getting them he caused the gun to discharge and was injured. The court discussed at length the meaning of the phrase "arising out of employment", and concluded that the gun was connected with or incidental to the employment, and that the accident for that reason arose out of the employment. Said the court:

"The words 'out of' point to the origin and cause of the accident or injury; the words 'in the course of' to the time, place and circumstances under which the accident or injury takes place. The character or quality of the accident as conveyed by the words 'out of' involves the idea that the accident is in some sense due to

the employment. It must result from a risk reasonably incident to the employment * * *.

“The rights of appellant depend upon the reasonableness under all the circumstances of his action in having the gun with him * * *.

“Gallaher was in the sense a watchman. * * * No orders had been issued preventing him from carrying firearms and the evidence indicates that the company rather expected him to arm himself, if necessary, to protect the property.”

The above cases cite many other similar cases. Where the nature of the employment is such that the employee might reasonably carry a gun, the courts are uniform in holding that an injury from the gun arises out of the employment. Since that is all that is necessary in Utah, the petitioner was entitled to an award. Certainly, it was not unreasonable for Stroud to carry a gun on his off-duty hours. There are at least four of the cases cited above which expressly hold that it is not necessary for the employer to order the employee to carry a gun. It is sufficient if the employer knows that the employee is carrying one and that the carrying of a gun might reasonably further the employer's interests. Here the employer both knew of the custom and encouraged it. (R. 9, 10, 20, 23, 25, 28)

We think in so far as the term “arise out of the employment” is concerned, that it is immaterial that the accident happened at the police station. Had Stroud been killed at home by a gun kept by him for use in the performance of his employment, the accident would have

arisen out of the employment. In proving that an accident arises in the course of the employment, the time, place and circumstances are important. But, an accident may arise out of the employment, even though the employee is not at work and is not performing his employer's work. There are numerous cases which have sustained the proposition that an employee assaulted after he has returned to his home at night from causes which had their origin in his employment is injured from causes arising out of his employment. See, for example, the cases collected by Howitz on Workmen's Compensation, commencing on page 507, as cited with approval by the Utah Supreme Court in the *M. & K. Corporation* case, *supra*.

(b) The Industrial Commission's Opinion

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