1951

Mary M. Stroud v. Industrial Commission of Utah et al : Brief of Respondent Salt Lake City Corporation

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

COURT'S POWER IS LIMITED IN REVIEWING DE-
CISIONS OF INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION UNDER THE
WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION ACT.

The Utah Supreme Court has, on occasions too numerous to mention, held that in a proceeding to review a decision of the Industrial Commission under the Workmen's Compensation Act, the Court will examine into the evidence only to determine whether there is any substantial competent evidence to support the finding of the Commission, and, if there is in fact such evidence, the findings will be sustained even though the Commission could have found either way on the issue.

We shall cite a few of the authorities to illustrate the proposition stated under Point I.

*Globe Grain & Milling Co. v. Industrial Com-
mission of Utah*, 193 P. 642;

*Twin Peaks Canning Company v. Industrial
Commission of Utah*, 196 P. 854;

Rukawina v. Industrial Commission of Utah,
248 P. 1103;

Banks v. Industrial Commission of Utah, 278
P. 58.

POINT II.

THE DEATH OF STROUD DID NOT ARISE OUT OF HIS EMPLOYMENT WITH SALT LAKE CITY CORPORATION.

The findings of the Industrial Commission in this decision are all sustained by competent substantial evidence given at the time of the hearing and which, for the purpose of this particular argument, are as follows:

That McGARRY and STROUD had accepted the responsibility of furnishing refreshments for a square dance to be attended by police officers and their wives, which was a purely social function and had nothing to do with the Police Department, nor was it a required police activity. STROUD was using his personal car to transport the soda water to the Ward House where such dance was to be held. McGARRY did not, at any time, see the gun involved on STROUD'S person on January 5, 1951. He heard a shot and turned to see a gun on the pavement. No-one saw the shot fired and there is no testimony that a bullet from this gun caused the death of STROUD. January 5, 1951, was STROUD'S day off. He came to the station to meet McGARRY and transfer soda water to his car. Other persons could check out cars, and in this case Acting Sergeant BRINTON did

check out the car referred to. All officers do not carry guns on days off, and no Rule or Regulation of the Police Department or Civil Service Commission or order of the Department required the carrying of a gun on one's day off or while not on duty as a police officer.

Appellant cites many cases, a number of which are not in point here or which are distinguishable, particularly those cases which involved an accident resulting in injuries to an employee while going to or from work. Utah follows the majority rule that where an employee is injured going to and from work at the special direction or request of the employer, he is entitled to compensation. In this case STROUD was not going to or from work at the request of the Police Department, nor was he engaged in any endeavor which promoted the interest of his employer. To the contrary, he was off duty and on a mission of his own.

The case closest in point cited by Appellant is the case of *Beaver City v. Industrial Commission of Utah*, 67 Utah 8, 245 P. 378. The facts of this case are entirely different and distinguishable from this case. In the *Beaver City* case, *supra*, the Court found:

“The accident occurred between the regular hours of the marshal * * *” — p. 379.

and he had gone home to clean his gun as he had no office or other convenient place to clean the gun, and the Court stated:

“Had the marshal undertaken to clean the gun at the ditch and at the time it dropped out of his pocket, and in doing so then was injured by an accidental discharge of the gun, we think it could not successfully be contended that the injury did not arise out of or in the course of his employment. And we think it would have made no difference had he gone to the city hall (if Beaver City had a hall) or to some other convenient place, and had there attempted to clean the gun. Having no material with him with which to clean the gun, and there being no convenient place to clean it, he went to his house. He still was on duty and within the corporate limits over which his duties extended, and, though in his own house, yet in a sense on the premises of his employer, and, so far as made to appear, there exposed to no more danger in cleaning the gun than had he undertaken to clean it at the ditch or at some other place. We thus do not see wherein, in cleaning the gun at his house, the officer was any less in the course of his employment than if he had undertaken to clean it at some other place. It further is made to appear that cleaning the gun at his house was not a place chosen or selected by him as a mere personal convenience or accommodation, but rather one of necessity; there being no other place where he conveniently could have cleaned it. Thus, under the circumstances, we think the award was proper.”

In the case of *Mayor v. Ward*, 114 S.W. 2d, 804, cited by Appellant, the Court found that the injured policeman was, at the time of the accident, still under all of the obligations of his employment, in his uniform,

and carrying his badge and weapons of office. He also followed up, further, and arrested the drunk driver that hit him on the same night it happened.

All of the other cases cited by Appellant are third party cases or cases in which the injured were actually in the course of their employment while on duty when the injury occurred and are certainly not in point here.

Could it be argued that a policeman would be entitled to compensation from an injury received from a gun accident while he was employed as a special officer by a department store on his day off, or during non-working hours; or, during a hike in the mountains with his friends or family on his day off or during non-working hours; or, if he was injured by his gun falling from his dresser to the floor while he was either dressing or un-dressing while at home on his day off or during non-working hours? I do not believe that counsel for Appellant would argue that Appellant would be entitled to any relief under the above mentioned instances.

It must be remembered that STROUD was not called back to work. He was on a mission of his own, which in no way would benefit his employer. He was under no order, Rule or Regulation to carry a gun on off-duty hours. There is absolutely no evidence to show any causal connection between the injury and his employment or that the same arose out of his employment. The gun was not seen on his person prior to the shooting, and

no-one saw the shot fired, and there is no testimony to show that a bullet from the gun found on the pavement on the sidewalk caused the injury.

Many persons carry firearms, and the carrying of firearms has never been considered inherently dangerous. Accidents from firearms result in most every case from the carelessness on the part of the handler. In the case of *Roberts v. City of Colfax*, 260 N.W. 57, the Night Marshal of the City, while engaged in cleaning up the floor of the city jail, was injured when a revolver which he was carrying fell from his pocket and was discharged, and the Court held:

“that the loss of eye caused by discharge of night marshal’s revolver which fell from his pocket while marshal was cleaning floor of jail was not compensable as the carrying of firearms by peace officers was not a peril or hazard peculiar to the work of their office.”

In the case of *Kresl v. Village of Dodge*, 238 N.W. 752, the wife of the village marshal heard a shot from the bedroom where her husband was changing clothes prior to going on duty as the village marshal at about 6:00 o’clock in the evening. On going to the room, she found her husband dead and his revolver lying on the floor. The revolver had a bad history, it having gone off accidentally on prior occasions. The Court held that this was not an accident arising out of employment and denied compensation.

In the case of *Albers v. Kipp*, 263 N.W. 593, the Court held that an injury to an employee does not "arise out of the employment" within Workmen's Compensation Law where, without employer's knowledge or direction, employee is voluntarily performing work not contemplated by employment contract, in a place where his duties do not require his presence, and with appliance not furnished by employer and used without employer's knowledge or consent, notwithstanding work may have been beneficial to employer.

In the case of *Harvey v. Caddo DeSoto Cotton Oil Company*, 6 So. 2d 747, the rule is established for the common accident test as to whether an accident arose out of the employment, the Court stating:

"That it is only necessary to consider two points: (1) Was the employee then engaged about his employer's business and not merely pursuing his own business or pleasure, and (2) Did the necessities of the employer's business reasonably require that the employee be at the place of the accident at the time the accident occurred."

In the case of *Goodyear Aircraft Corp. v. Industrial Commission*, 158 P. 2d 511, the Court, in deciding the question of whether the accident arose out of employment, laid down the rule that an employer is not an insurer and that if the accident occurs while the employee is engaged in some act having no relation to his duties for his own comfort or otherwise, or has abandoned his occupation even temporarily, then injury does not arise out of employment.

In the case of *Roberts and Oake v. Industrial Commission, et al*, 39 N.E. 2d 315, the Court held:

“That in order for a risk to be incidental to the employment within Compensation Act it must have a relation to the work performed by the employee in fulfilling his contract of service, and that where an employee assumes to undertake a dangerous act which is altogether outside of his scope of employment, the risk taken is not incidental to the employment.”

POINT III.

ACCIDENTS THAT DO NOT ARISE OUT OF OR DURING THE COURSE OF EMPLOYMENT ARE NOT COMPENSABLE EVEN THOUGH EMPLOYEE IS SUBJECT TO CALL 24 HOURS A DAY.

Appellant contends most strongly that because STROUD was subject to call 24 hours a day, he was entitled to compensation for his injury. Many cases have been decided on this point, all of which hold that unless the employee was actually in the course of his employment or that the accident arose out of his employment, the same is not compensable. In the case of *Sullivan v. Industrial Commission*, 10 P. 2d 924, a Utah case where Mr. Sullivan was subject to call 24 hours a day, stopped over enroute to New York to visit his daughter at Vassar College, and while there with his daughter, was injured, the Court held:

“Though an employee is by the terms of his employment required to be ready to perform his duties for the employer at any hour of the day

or night, it does not follow that every accident or injury that he may receive during the course of the 24 hours arises out of his employment. To be compensable, it must appear that at the time of the injury he was discharging some of the duties he is employed to perform or that what he is doing is in some way connected with or incidental to the duty owing to the master."

In the case of *Mitchell v. Ball Bros. Co.*, 186 N.E. 900, the Court held that the death of an employee struck by an automobile while on way to employer's premises from lunch without any special call, did not arise out of and in the course of employment, although employee was subject to call at any time during the day.

Also, see *State Young Men's Christian Association v. Industrial Commission*, 292 N.W. 324.

POINT IV.

NECESSARY TO BE COMPLYING WITH AN ORDER OR RULE OF EMPLOYER.

In reply to the cases cited by Appellant to sustain his contention that it is immaterial that employer did not order STROUD to carry a gun, I call the Court's attention to the fact that in every case so cited and that in all the cases I was able to find where compensation was allowed, the injury resulted during the working hours of the injured employee's employment and further resulted in the actual course of employment.

POINT V.

STROUD WAS NOT IN THE COURSE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT.

Stroud was off duty, and was transferring cases of soda water from one car to his car when injured. In the case of *Vitagraph, Inc., v. Industrial Commission of Utah*, 85 P. 2d 601, the question arose as to whether the accident arose out of or in the course of employment, and the Court therein established the rule that for an injury to be compensable, the workman must at the time of the injury have been engaged in doing some work for the employer or under the direction and control of the employer, or at the point of danger pursuant to or in carrying out the order or direction of the employer, or in doing some act necessary to be done for the employment or incidental thereto and not detachable therefrom.

In the case of *State Young Men's Christian Association v. Industrial Commission*, *supra*, 292 N.W. 324, the evidence showed that the injured employee was employed to render medical service with the understanding that he would live on the premises and respond to all emergency calls. That while playing tennis on the employer's premises he received an eye injury, and the Court held:

“That the exercise of his privilege to join in a game of tennis with other employees who were also indulging in the pleasure, did not result in service to the employer. He and his companions were free to use their time to suit themselves. It was while playing in this manner that the injured was struck in the eye with a tennis ball. At the time he was exercising a personal privilege apart from any interest of the employer, the nature of which cannot be considered as being for the benefit of the employer or for the mutual benefit of both. His play was without direction or compulsion of any kind which required him to take part, and no duty was imposed on him nor would he be discharged for failure to participate.”

In the case of *Tabor v. Midland Flour Milling Co.*, 168 S.W. 2d, 458, the Court sets down the commonly accepted rule of “in course of employment” wherein the Court held:

“An injury to an employee arises in course of employment when it occurs within the period of his employment at a place where he might reasonably be and while he is reasonably fulfilling the duties of his employment or engaged in the performance of some task incidental thereto. But where, at the time of his injury, the employee is engaged in a voluntary act not known to or accepted by his employer and outside the duties for which he is employed, the injury is not received in the course of employment.”

CONCLUSION

That the Industrial Commision did not err in concluding that the accident which caused the death of THOMAS WILLIAM STROUD did not arise out of or in the course of his employment by Defendant SALT LAKE CITY CORPORATION and in denying the claim of MARY M. STROUD for compensation.